



Perspectives on childhood resilience among the Aboriginal community: an interview study

Young C, Tong A, Nixon J, Fernando P, Kalucy D, Sherriff S, Clapham K, Craig JC, Williamson A

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research is a project of the Australian Primary Health Care Research Institute, which is supported by a grant from the Australian Government Department of Health. The information and opinions contained in it do not necessarily reflect the views or policy of the Australian Primary Health Care Research Institute or the Australian Government Department of Health.

We thank the SEARCH participants, their communities and the staff at participating ACCHSs. This work was supported through grants to SEARCH from the Australian Primary Care Research Institute, the National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia (grant numbers 358457, 512685, 1023998 and 1035378), the NSW Ministry of Health, beyondblue and the Rio Tinto Aboriginal Fund. The CRE and SEARCH are conducted in partnership with the AH&MRC and four Aboriginal medical services across NSW: Awabakal Limited, Riverina Medical and Dental Aboriginal Corporation, Sydney West Aboriginal Health Service, and Tharawal Aboriginal Corporation.

CITATION

Young et al. Perspectives on childhood resilience among the Aboriginal community: an interview study. 2016. Centre for Urban Aboriginal Child Health. Australian National University. Australian National University: Canberra.

Professor Emily Banks
Research School of Population Health
62 Mills Rd
The Australian National University
Canberra Acton 2600

E: emily.banks@anu.edu.au

Contents

Background	4
Methods	5
PARTICIPANTS	5
DATA COLLECTION	5
DATA ANALYSIS	5
Results	6
Withstanding risk	7
Displaying normative development	7
Possessing inner fortitude	8
Adapting to adversity	8
Positive social influences	9
Instilling cultural identity	10
Community safeguards	11
Personal empowerment	12
Discussion	14
Conclusion	16
References	17
Supplementary File 1: Interview guide	20
PREAMBLE	20
Positive adaption/adversity	20
Personal resilience	20
Resilience in the community	20
Potential programs/services	20

Background

Australian Aboriginal children are exposed to a number of adversities that have been attributed to the downstream effects of European colonisation. Childhood adversities increase the risk of negative health and social outcomes that can contribute to longstanding mental and physical health 'gaps' between Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal people and the high rates of youth suicide observed. Despite these challenges most Aboriginal children are resilient and show remarkable adaption during difficult circumstances.

Current literature describes resilience as a contextual and dynamic process that leads to positive adaptation in the presence of significant adversity. ^{7,8} In Australia, research has identified risk and protective factors that influence Aboriginal children's health, ⁹⁻¹¹ however few studies specifically investigate resilience. Two recent quantitative studies find resilience to be associated with higher self-esteem, prosocial friendships, self-regulation, low community socio-economic status, and better physical health of children and their parents. ^{6,12} Qualitative research on Australian Aboriginal children's resilience indicates the importance of empowerment and cultural pride in building resilience. ^{13,14} The relatively few studies of resilience appears disproportionate to the frequency with which resilience is mentioned in conjunction with Aboriginal people, ¹⁵⁻¹⁸ and the potential benefits research could offer by providing an evidence base for initiatives designed to enhance childhood resilience.

Qualitative research provides a number of unique contributions within resilience research paradigms. These include,

- > empowering the voices of marginalised groups
- > avoiding a limited selection of risk and outcome variables, and
- gaining a deeper understanding of the processes that contribute to resilience within appropriate sociocultural settings.¹⁹

The aim of this study was to describe the perspectives of members of urban and regional Aboriginal communities on childhood resilience, including how resilience can be enhanced. The results may be used to inform programs with the potential to reduce negative outcomes in at-risk Aboriginal children.

Methods

We used the Consolidated Criteria for Reporting Qualitative Studies (COREQ) to inform the design and reporting of this study.²⁰

PARTICIPANTS

Participants were recruited from two urban and one regional Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Service (ACCHS) in New South Wales. We used purposive sampling to include Aboriginal people from a wide range of ages who were key informants (i.e. people with experience working with, or who were caregivers of, Aboriginal children). Members of the research team first met with ACCHS staff who were known to each other through their participation in the Study of Environment on Aboriginal Resilience and Child Health (SEARCH).²¹ Using the knowledge the ACCHS have of their community, staff compiled a list of potential participants who they felt could offer useful insights into childhood resilience based on their experience working with or raising children, or from their own experiences of resilience. These included ACCHS staff members and members of the local Aboriginal community. Participants were recruited via telephone or asked in person by the ACCHS staff. Ethics approval for this study was provided by the Aboriginal Health and Medical Research Council (1065/15).

DATA COLLECTION

We developed an interview guide based on the resilience literature and discussion with the research team (Supplementary File 1, attached). Semi-structured interviews were conducted face-to-face at the ACCHS between October and December 2015, with one participant interviewed by phone. CY conducted all the interviews with an Aboriginal researcher (JN or PF) who was present to ensure the accurate interpretation of participant responses and to guide the line of questioning where necessary. Participants were told that the study was being conducted in order to gather Aboriginal people's perspectives on childhood resilience. Resilience was broadly defined as 'doing well despite problems children may face'. Questions focused on participants' description of children's positive adaption and common adversities, factors that helped themselves to be resilient during childhood, factors that they believed helped children in their community to be resilient, and ideas for initiatives that could build resilience. Participation was voluntary and all participants provided written, informed consent. Recruitment ceased when data saturation was reached. Interviews were audio-recorded and transcribed verbatim. One interview was recorded using field notes only (at the request of the participant).

DATA ANALYSIS

We used thematic analysis to analyse the data. Four researchers (CY, JN, SS, and DK), trained in qualitative research methods, independently read the transcripts and coded the data to inductively identify emerging themes. The researchers met regularly to discuss their coding choices, develop a coding structure and produce preliminary themes. CY imported the themes into HyperRESEARCH (version 3.5.2; Research-ware Inc.), a software program used to code the qualitative data and refine the final themes and subthemes. We sent a summary of the preliminary findings to participants (*via* email or post) to obtain feedback over a two-week timeframe; one participant responded and their feedback was incorporated into the final analysis.

Results

Of the 43 people invited to take part, 36 (84%) participated: 15 health service professionals, eight youth workers and 13 community members (Table 1). Those who declined to participate did so due to conflicting appointments. Six participants were known to the researchers through previous participation in SEARCH sub-studies. The average duration of interviews was 24 minutes (range, 8 to 48 minutes).

Table 1. Participant characteristics

	(N=36)
Characteristic	n (%)
Gender	
Male	12 (33)
Female	24 (67)
Age (years)	
18-24	8 (22)
25-34	5 (14)
35-44	8 (22)
45-54	9 (25)
55-64	3 (8)
65+	3 (8)
Occupation	
¹ Health services	15 (42)
professional	
Aboriginal youth worker	8 (22)
Administration	3 (8)
Early childcare	2 (6)
Pensioner	5 (14)
Unemployed	1 (3)
Other	2 (6)
Highest level of education	
Primary School	1 (3)
High School	6 (17)
² HSC/equivalent	8 (22)
Diploma	13 (36)
University degree	7 (19)
Not reported	1 (3)

¹Aboriginal health, mental health and aged care workers; health service managers

²HSC: Higher School Certificate

We identified six themes: withstanding risk, adapting to adversity, positive social influences, instilling cultural identity, community safeguards, and personal empowerment. The thematic

schema in Figure 1 shows conceptual links between the themes. Themes and subthemes accompanied by illustrative quotes are described below.

Community safeguards Offering strategic, sustainable services Holistic support · Shared responsibility Α Providing enriching d opportunities Personal empowerment Withstanding Instilling cultural identity e risk Awareness of positive pathways Displaying Investing in Aboriginal knowledge normative Developing self-respect development S Building a strong cultural Fostering positive self-concept Possessing i decision making inner fortitude t У Adapting to Positive social influences adversity · Secure family environments Necessary endurance · Role-modelling healthy behaviours and relationships Masking inner vulnerabilities

Figure 1. Thematic schema

Positive social influences and cultural identity were believed to promote personal empowerment and better decision making which, in turn, aided children's ability to withstand risk. Community safeguards were thought to provide positive cultural and social influences in conjunction with children's family or, more importantly, when family support was absent or inconsistent. Participants noted that for some children the necessity of being resilient resulted in a continuous struggle that could prevent them from achieving higher goals, or led to them to project resilient facades that hid inner trauma.

Withstanding risk

Displaying normative development

Participants believed that childhood adversities threatened normal development; they felt resilient children were more likely to resist these threats and meet positive social and educational milestones. As such, children who experienced adversity, but who were able to show empathy, take pride in their appearance, show respect for themselves and others, maintain prosocial relationships, regularly attend school and value education were believed to be resilient. Being drug and alcohol free was seen to be an important indicator of resilience in older children.

I can see the change in these kids now because: One, they're stable; two, they've got attention. They are meeting their milestones, whereas before, they weren't. [Female, 50s]

Education is a huge thing. Are they going to school? Are they enjoying it? How are they interacting with other people, connecting to their family? [Female, 18-29 years]

Possessing inner fortitude

Participants described resilience as an often inexplicable 'inner strength' that allowed children to endure incredible adversity and still show positive outcomes. While some felt this ability could be fostered through social support, cultural knowledge and self-belief, others believed this ability was "just in them". Children with inner fortitude demonstrated a strong work ethic and determination to achieve their goals. They were also thought to cope better with stress, adapt to difficult situations, and have effective strategies for managing their emotions. The experience of being raised in dysfunctional family environments was sometimes thought to serve as a catalyst for these children to eschew negative behaviours and lead more resilient lives.

I was the middle child, only daughter of an alcoholic father, a lot of domestic violence, lot of incarcerations, a lot of struggles that I see with kids here. I left home at sixteen, pregnant by eighteen, did the whole drug fest and all that. And I think I drew on the strength that I wanted – didn't want my children to go through what I went through, so that was my drive. I didn't have to be rich, but I just didn't want them to feel the feelings that I felt. [Female, 40s]

For a lot of people, it does have to be learned (resilience). But for myself; I know that I just have it. [Female, 20s]

Adapting to adversity

Necessary endurance

Aboriginal children were believed to face significant levels of adversity that could increase the chances of risky behaviours and derail positive outcomes. Because of this elevated threat, some participants viewed Aboriginal children's resilience as more of a "necessity, rather than a strength". Participants felt that Aboriginal children were very resilient, and often more so than non-Aboriginal people were aware of. They felt that many Aboriginal children were fighting hard just to lead normal lives and, consequentially, children's ability to achieve their full potential was likely to be compromised.

I think that sometimes Aboriginal children are probably resilient in all the wrong ways. They skip that part of being a kid and they go right from being a young person and having to deal with certain things. [Female, 20s]

It made me think how much energy and brain power it takes to be resilient. How many more of our mob could of been superstars, instead we are becoming the experts in trauma" [Female, 40s]

Masking inner vulnerabilities

Some participants felt that for Aboriginal children to 'fit in', they would often portray outwardly resilient behaviours that hid inner feelings of instability and the need for greater support from their family and community. Participants also felt that some Aboriginal children were adept at hiding developmental issues (such as illiteracy) behind stoic facades; they were concerned that this would lead to poorer outcomes if not identified early.

When I look back on my life and what people said to me, they always saw me as strong or doing well, yet internally I didn't feel that way. [Female, 40s]

I think people don't realise how bad things can be for some people. That people can hide it. They can hide a lot. To think that someone their age has gone through school and everything has slipped; he can't read, he can't write. [Female, 40s]

Positive social influences

Secure family environments

Growing up in a safe, structured, supportive and stable family environment was believed to provide the necessary foundation on which resilience could be fostered in Aboriginal children. Participants felt resilience was cultivated through consistent parenting practices, firm but fair discipline, well-defined boundaries, active monitoring of children's whereabouts, and children's perception of their home as safe place. However, substance abuse, domestic violence, financial difficulties and caregivers who were less engaged in their children's lives were seen as common threats to most Aboriginal children's ability to develop resilience.

I felt safe (at home), and I think that's why I probably didn't go out of line. If I didn't have a safe home and then there were issues – I'd easily go the other way. [Female 40s]

When I went and spent time with my dad I came back to the house and [we noticed that] every time [participant's sister] leaves, she's very well-behaved; she's very respectful to both of us, and whenever she comes back it's like those rules in that structure is completely gone. And so that was really important for both my parents and instilling that structure, not being to overbearing, like, believe me, we had trouble, but it was definitely just that having that guidance as a family. If children have learned the structures that they can have in their lives, even though their family may be under great stress they got that support that builds resilience. [Female, 50s]

Role-modelling healthy behaviour and relationships

Participants believed that exposure to positive role models raised children's awareness of their own potential to lead positive lives and the strategies that could help them despite the challenges they might face. Conversely, they thought that Aboriginal children who had experienced severe adversity would be less aware of positive ways of living, and how healthy relationships function. Caregivers and older sibling's values, morals and ethics were thought to heavily influence children's ability to develop resilient attitudes and behaviours. However, children's parents could also model negative behaviours that may be passed down. In this way participants described resilience, or the lack of resilience, as a cycle that propagates through generations.

The role models in my life, I think that's taught me to be resilient. I had faced racism when I was growing up but it didn't really worry me because I knew otherwise. [Female, 20s]

I'm a good role model for my daughter. She sees me working. She's only four, but she always talks about work and, "When I get older, I want to work at your work, mum". So I think I'm setting a good example for her. I think I've stopped the cycle at me, hopefully. [Female 50s]

But we just take them out for the day and just try and introduce them to some positive role models to show kids that there are positive role models living in our community. But for those kids that are on the fringe and aren't as resilient as others I was just trying to try to - just to let them know I think it's about they're aren't alone in what they're feeling, in what they're going through. And it's trying to get that point across to them, that - and if you need help, there is help there if you needed. [Male 30s]

Instilling cultural identity

Investing in Aboriginal knowledge

Participants believed that children who were more aware of their Aboriginal heritage and cultural practices were more likely to be resilient. They believed that it was important that children were aware of the history of European colonisation, the impact this has had, and the strength of the Aboriginal people to withstand enormous adversity. Children's connection to Aboriginal culture was believed to foster a sense of belonging, and pride in their ancestry that could serve as a source of strength during challenging times.

I find that those kids that are very strongly connected and can identify strong in their Aboriginality and their heritage, they're the ones that are far more resilient. [Male, 30's]

Those stories and that knowledge, passed down from generation to generation, highlight those strengths that children will grow up strong and connected. [Female, 40s]

Building a strong cultural self-concept

Participants emphasised the importance of children being 'grounded' in their family, their community and their country. They felt children who had a clear, strong and positive concept of themselves as an Aboriginal person living in a predominantly White culture were more resilient to experiences of discrimination and negative stereotyping.

Kids that show resilience, you can feel that they're really connected to their identity. Some of the kids take strength in knowing that that's a practise we've had for many years, and that's the strength that we rely on as well. [Male, 30s]

It's something that's probably most certainly helped me in terms of knowing – strength from my identity, knowing who my family are, the extended family, and knowing the grassroots of my family, knowing my heritage and the link to a country that I've got now as well, but the loyalty that I have to my family, understanding the social structures, and understanding the needs of my family and my people as well is very strong. [Male, 60s]

When we talk about say, the stolen generation, where they grew up with that separation and then therefore, they have very limited knowledge of self, their identity, how they fit in, how they belong and I think we can sort of help them deal with the traumas of the past, of that separation by instilling the knowledge of the culture of say, for example, when I was working with kids in out of home care, we would identify as part of their cultural plan, we'd help them identify where their mob come from, where their mother came from, and then we just start building that for them so it's like putting a jigsaw puzzle together. [Male, 40s]

Community safeguards

Providing strategic, sustainable services

Community programs were believed to help foster resilience in children, and were thought to be crucial for children living in families where parental support was less consistent. Participants suggested that camps designed to teach cultural knowledge, homework centres, school mentors, greater availability of recreational facilities/activities, and places children could go if they felt unsafe at home were potential strategies to promote resilience. They believed that children would feel more comfortable attending community programs led by Aboriginal people and that these should be sustainable and given in informal, outdoor settings (where possible). They felt this would provide the impetus for building trust that could lead to increased engagement with programs aimed at building resilience.

Having an Aboriginal case worker helped because he understood where I was coming from. He was supportive and was always pushing me to do the right thing in life. It's a pretty big help, if I didn't have them, I'll probably be in a lot more trouble than I was in. [Female, 20s]

Look, when they start those programs, they only go for so long and then they cut them off. [Male, 50s]

Holistic services

Given the strong influence participants believed caregivers had on their children's behaviour, community programs that could enhance both caregivers and children's resilience were desired. They felt that working with a child "in isolation" would be less effective if problems at home were not treated as well. Participants wanted programs that could address parental mental health issues, as well teaching nurturing parenting techniques.

You can remove that young person but we're still putting him back into an unfixed home, a broken home. Our biggest struggle is looking at the holistic approach. You can fix one but we need to fix the whole unit. [Female, 40s]

To work with that young child, to address whatever the issues are, we make sure that the parents are also supported, because if they're not supported, we're sort of just beating a dead horse, really. [Male, 40s]

Shared responsibility

Some participants felt it was the responsibility of the Aboriginal community to pass on their knowledge and experiences of overcoming adversity to the next generation of Aboriginal children. They felt many community members had shown remarkable resilience but were not aware of opportunities to give this knowledge back. Some also noted personal benefits they had experienced while helping young people, and felt that this had helped them to lead more resilient lives as adults.

One thing I'd like to see is that re-engagement of not just youth, but our men in our community to know that they have a responsibility to contribute something back to young people, to make them strong young men. [Male, 30s]

I think it's a collective approach. It's a community approach, that's how we operated traditionally. Just because we're the AMS (Aboriginal Medical

Service), we're not the ones that should be responsible for this (building resilience). It's got to be a whole of community approach. [Male, 40s]

So I think education is also about - that resilient stuff is also about giving knowledge to people, so that they actually use it in their own families. If I teach one person in the family and they get it. I know that that person will go and teach others. [Male, 60s]

Providing enriching opportunities

Providing greater access to activities in which children could foster natural talents and interests, as well as channelling negative emotions, was seen as a potential method of building resilience. These activities were also believed to provide opportunities that may be less available to some Aboriginal children, including experiences of leadership, goal-setting and achievement that helped build self-esteem. Conversely the absence of available activities was seen as a major contributor to the boredom that could subsequently lead to delinquent and less resilient behaviour.

So they put me in art class with this Scottish art teacher. He actually helped channel that anger into something. So I was able to express myself through art. [Female, 40s]

Children should be given the opportunities to be leaders so that they can be resilient, and you'd be surprised that if quiet little Joe in the corner is given an opportunity to step up, all of a sudden, he's up and shining. [Female, 50s]

Personal empowerment

Awareness of positive pathways

Participants felt that children who were aware of, and valued positive outcomes in their future, were more likely to resist maladaptive behaviours that could jeopardise these outcomes. These included hopes for obtaining specific tertiary education and achieving employment goals once they had left school. When describing their own experiences participants often spoke of epiphanies. These insights lead to more resilient behaviour by showing children that their "life didn't have to be this way". Participants also thought children's scholastic education and knowledge passed on through family and community members was important for advancing an awareness of positive paths children could follow.

I think those people who get through or managed to do well, there's been some light or some hope. Someone has shown them hope or a pathway. [Female, 40s]

I remember hearing Uncle Chicka Dixon (well-known Aboriginal activist), he said, 'Education is the way out for our people.' It was a little light bulb moment; my life didn't have to always be this way. [Female, 40s]

I think we all have that thing in ourselves that when you do get down, when something knocks you down, no matter what that is, there's always another option and I think there're multiple pathways. But I think being able to see [participant's family] being knocked down and come back has been really big to me, too, and what happens like, you know, all my family have, in a

way I don't know if "given up" is the right word but, just sort of, stayed on one certain path, if that makes sense. [Female, 20s]

Developing self-respect

Participants believed self-esteem and self-efficacy fostered resilience. They thought that children, who set goals, believed they could be fulfilled, and who felt pride in their achievements, would persevere in the face of adversity. They felt that children who valued their own worth and believed that "everyone was equal" were more likely to resist the negative effects of discrimination than children with less self-respect, who were more likely to believe, and internalise racial stereotyping. Resilient children were thought more likely to have regular access to at least one person who valued and believed in them, and this was thought to foster self-respect. Participants felt that the most important person to fulfil this role were the child's immediate caregivers, however many believed that less resilient Aboriginal children lacked this type of support. In these instances, other family members, peers, teachers and trusted members of the Aboriginal community were thought to potentially fulfil this important role in a child's development.

Ideally, those sorts of things are in place so the child will become very resilient, they have a sense of self, and self-worth: 'I can do this!' [Female, 50s]

Self-reliance that's makes a difference, it builds resilience and you learn to figure out what's right and what's wrong. [Male, 40s]

And getting your kids to actually be the ones to actually to take the - give them the ownership of it I think. That's the most important thing. I'd give them, the kid, the ownership of wanting to do that. Letting them be the ones to choose exactly what they wanna do and that builds up their confidence, self-esteem that sort of stuff. [Male, 60s]

Fostering positive decision making

Many participants felt that the ability of Aboriginal children to lead a positive life despite adversity was a choice, and that resilience was the strength to choose positive over negative behaviours during difficult circumstances. Participants believed that building the strength to make these choices was crucial for ensuring resilient outcomes.

I thought, "It stops here". I'm going to break this cycle here, and that's a choice that each person has to make. [Female, 50s]

My brother is someone who just takes it a day at a time, still does. He's very good at a lot of things. He was an excellent surfer. He could have went a long way in surfing, but he chose not to be because of the crowd he hung around with which involves a lot of drugs and alcohol from a very young age. Whereas me, I was able to determine whether or not that was the wrong group to be around, where my brother didn't question that. He just he just went with the flow. I took my sport a bit more seriously because I'd set myself goals because I sort of realised at an early age that what I could achieve if I focused a bit more on it where as my brother was. He'd never seen that as being a goal of his. He didn't really set himself goals. His goals were just to be around family and just to travel back and forth because that's what we grew up with. So my brother, even today he lives a very nomadic life. [Male, 40s]

Discussion

Aboriginal community members believe childhood resilience is the ability to endure adversity with minimal disruption to normal development and social functioning, and the strength to choose positive behaviours in the face of challenging circumstances. While some participants felt resilience was an innate quality, they also believed resilience could be learned, or nurtured through positive interactions with family and community. Resilience was thought to be fostered by sociocultural factors that instil a strong self-concept, connection to Aboriginal culture, the knowledge of positive behaviours and outcomes, and the desire and self-belief required to achieve these outcomes. However, resilience was not always viewed positively. Some participants believed that many Aboriginal children were forced to develop resilience due to experiences of discrimination, inconsistent or disruptive parenting and poverty. Others felt that some children developed resilient facades that hid psychological trauma that may go unnoticed and untreated. Community programs that could augment positive family dynamics, or act as a potential buffer against negative or impoverished family environments were desired.

Community members also emphasized the important role of individual choice in childhood resilience. This is not to suggest that participants thought Aboriginal children choose whether they do, or do not, experience trauma when exposed to adverse events. However, children living in at-risk circumstances were thought less likely to receive the necessary tools that enable positive decision-making that was indicative of many of the community's own definitions of resilience.

The views presented in this study reflect observations obtained from previous quantitative research with Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal groups. Community members' perspectives of 'inner fortitude' describes dispositional traits that have been associated with resilient children, including having an internal locus of control, ²² good coping skills²³ and 'grit' (perseverance for long-term goals). ²⁴ Descriptions of outwardly resilient children who struggle with inner anxiety has been noted in high-risk adolescents. ²⁵ Cultural identity, ^{26,27} family and community support, ²⁸ and individual traits such as optimism and self-esteem ^{6,29} are also associated with resilience in the extant literature.

Our study highlights beliefs regarding the potential impact that social challenges have on the decisions and behaviour of Aboriginal children. It is widely acknowledged that many Aboriginal children are routinely exposed to implicit and/or explicit racism and negative stereotyping. Within this social context, children's decision-making processes are likely to be influenced by pervasive and pernicious stereotypes that can shape children's beliefs about who they are, and what they are expected to achieve. Participants felt that positive role-models, education and cultural knowledge buffered against these negative stereotypes and raised children's awareness of their own potential to lead positive lives (e.g. potential career pathways; the possibility of living in safe, drug and alcohol free environments), as well as providing opportunities to build the self-belief and self-esteem that empower children to act on this information. In this way, while resilience was sometimes described as an innate or un-learnable strength, participant's perspectives also offer insights into an underlying process of Aboriginal children's resilience that is a product of their social environment, and could potentially be enhanced through targeted community programs.

These processes accord with social ecological theories of resilience,³⁴ including a recent community program that reported remarkable outcomes when opportunities were provided for unemployed adolescents to set and achieve their own goals within a supportive and autonomous environment;¹³ and the results of a study involving a large representative sample of Western Australian Aboriginal children that showed a positive relationship between levels of self-esteem and likelihood of being resilient.¹² In keeping with these observations, community members wished for more programs that could educate and empower at-risk Aboriginal children, as well as programs that could identify risks within the family, providing support for caregivers to lead healthy lives and to raise healthy children.

Participants identified children's connection to their Aboriginal culture as an essential component of any program designed to build resilience and wished for more opportunities for Aboriginal elders and resilient community members to pass on the knowledge that could foster more resilience.

Program development should take into consideration the fact that children and families experiencing multiple adversities are also more likely to face greater barriers to accessing health services such as lack of transport, wariness and lack of parental involvement. The programs that can identify and provide services for at-risk children at school or in out-of-home care comprise a potentially useful strategy for building resilience. Such health initiatives would benefit greatly from the input of the local ACCHSs, who have unique knowledge of their community, and who are likely to play an essential role in the identification of at-risk children. The availability long-term, holistic and sustainable services was thought crucial to the success of programs designed to enhance resilience.

We interviewed Aboriginal adults; this is a potential limitation as the perspectives reported may not represent that of Aboriginal children. However, a number of young adults (18-24 years) were included, and their perspectives were similar to the older participants. We caution that the results from this study, collected in urban and regional areas in New South Wales, may not extrapolate to Aboriginal populations living in remote areas or other urban/regional areas of Australia.

Resilience is a concept with many definitions available to researchers and health communities. Within the sociocultural context of this study, participants perceived Aboriginal children's resilience as being the ability to endure discrimination and family adversities, and make positive choices despite these challenges. Aboriginal community members were clear in their belief that children who grow up in strong supportive family environments and who were aware of, and valued their Aboriginal heritage were more likely to be resilient. However, there is room for health communities to assist, especially in circumstances where adversity originates from within the family. While many Aboriginal children are raised in supportive environments, the impact of European colonisation has resulted in downstream adversities that can prevent some families from providing this kind of care. It is therefore the responsibility of policy makers and health providers to make available sustainable initiatives that ensure Aboriginal children who are most at risk receive the support they need to have the best chance of leading healthy, resilient lives.

Conclusion

Aboriginal community members believe resilience manifests via a number of different processes. A promising finding from this study is that participants believed resilience to be an ability that can be learned through sociocultural influences. That is, children who receive family and community support and are influenced by positive role-models and cultural knowledge during developmentally crucial periods were thought more likely to develop resilient attitudes and behaviours.

Childhood and adolescence is a logical time to enhance resilience given the cognitive, social, and emotional development children undergo, and the relatively strong influence of family at this time. Additionally, it is during these years that children can be seen to 'hit' developmental milestones that may indicate the presence of resilience. Children who develop resilience in childhood are more likely to cope better with adversity, and make positive choices that lead to healthier behaviours. This study therefore highlights the potential of encouraging childhood resilience in order to potentially reduce future health disparities.

The results suggest strategies for enhancing resilience focus on building self-esteem and providing children with information that encourages better decision making. Instilling pride and knowledge of Aboriginal culture was seen as an important component of any strategy that seeks to build resilience. Initiatives that involve the communication and effective cooperation between local community groups, ACCHS, schools and specialist healthcare providers were thought necessary to achieve such a goal. Furthermore, ensuring non-Aboriginal people who interact regularly with Aboriginal children (e.g. teachers, health professionals) are aware of the extent that Aboriginal children are resilient, and the potential cost of this resilience, may increase greater understanding between the two cultures and help to identify children that require additional support.

Given the current gap between Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal health outcomes it is clear that more needs to be done to improve Aboriginal health outcomes. While strategies that aim to reduce the risks Aboriginal people face are crucial to achieving this goal, enhancing childhood resilience against long-standing adversities such as systemic racism and problems within the family is also likely to result in improved long-term mental and physical health outcomes. This research offers key areas to target in order to build childhood resilience, and could be used to develop initiatives in conjunction with the Aboriginal community and health professionals.

References

- 1. Kelly, K., Dudgeon, P., Gee, G. & Glaskin, B. Living on the Edge: Social and Emotional Wellbeing and Risk and Protective Factors for Serious Psychological Distress among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander People, Discussion Paper No. 10. Darwin (AUST): Cooperative Research Centre for Aboriginal Health; 2009.
- 2. Henderson G, Robson C, Cox L, Dukes C, Tsey K, Haswell M. Social and emotional wellbeing of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people within the broader context of the social determinants of health. Beyond bandaids: exploring the underlying social determinants of Aboriginal Health. Darwin, Australia: Cooperative Research Centre for Aboriginal Health. 2007. Pp136-64.
- 3. Wilkie M. Bringing them home: Report of the national inquiry into the separation of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children from their families. Sydney, Australia: Human Rights and Equal Opportunity Commission. 1997.
- 4. King M, Smith A, Gracey M. Indigenous health part 2: the underlying causes of the health gap. *Lancet* 2009;374:76-85.
- 5. Luke JN, Anderson IP, Gee GJ, Thorpe R, Rowley KG, Reilly RE, Thorpe A, Stewart PJ. Suicide ideation and attempt in a community cohort of urban Aboriginal youth: a cross-sectional study. *Crisis* 2013;34(4):251.
- 6. Hopkins KD, Zubrick SR, Taylor CL. Resilience amongst Australian Aboriginal youth: an ecological analysis of factors associated with psychosocial functioning in high and low family risk contexts. *PloS One*. 2014 Jul 28;9(7):e102820.
- 7. Luthar SS, Cicchetti D, Becker B. The construct of resilience: A critical evaluation and guidelines for future work. *Child Dev.* 2000;71:543-62.
- 8. Aburn G, Gott M, Hoare K. What is resilience? An integrative review of the empirical literature. *J Adv Nurs*. 2016 Jan 1.
- 9. Williamson A, D'Este C, Clapham K, Redman S, Manton T, Eades S, Schuster L, Raphael B. What are the factors associated with good mental health among Aboriginal children in urban New South Wales, Australia? Phase I findings from the Study of Environment on Aboriginal Resilience and Child Health (SEARCH). *BMJ open.* 2016 Jul 1;6(7):e011182.
- Priest N, Mackean T, Davis E, Waters E, Briggs L. Strengths and challenges for Koori kids: Harder for Koori kids, Koori kids doing well-Exploring Aboriginal perspectives on social determinants of Aboriginal child health and wellbeing. *Health Sociol Rev*. 2012;21:165-79.
- 11. Zubrick S, Lawrence D, Silburn S, Blair E, Milroy H, Wilkes E, et al. The Western Australian Aboriginal child health survey: *The health of Aboriginal children and young people*. 2004.
- 12. Hopkins KD, Shepherd CC, Taylor CL, Zubrick SR. Relationships between Psychosocial Resilience and Physical Health Status of Western Australian Urban Aboriginal Youth. *PloS One.* 2015;10:e0145382.
- 13. Gale F, Bolzan N. Social resilience: Challenging neo-colonial thinking and practices around 'risk'. *J Youth Stud.* 2013;16:257-71.
- 14. Clapham KF, Khavarpour F, Bolt RJ, Stevenson M, Su S. Researching the safety of Indigenous children and youth: an urban perspective. 2012.
- 15. Price-Robertson R, McDonald M. Working with Indigenous children, families, and communities: Lessons from practice (CAFCA Practice Sheet). Melbourne, Australia:

- Communities and Families Clearinghouse Australia, Australian Institute of Family Studies, 2011.
- 16. The Department of Health. *Trauma and resilience: Aboriginal and Torres Strait islander children and families* [Internet]. Canberra: 2014 [cited 2016 Oct 11]. Available from: http://www.kidsmatter.edu.au/sites/default/files/public/Trauma InfoSheet 1 web.pdf
- 17. Hughes KE. Resilience, Agency and Resistance in the Storytelling Practice of Aunty Hilda Wilson (1911-2007), Ngarrindjeri Aboriginal Elder. *M/C Journal*. 2013 Aug 28;16(5).
- 18. Jackson D, Power T, Sherwood J, Geia L. Amazingly resilient Indigenous people! Using transformative learning to facilitate positive student engagement with sensitive material. *Contemp Nurse*. 2013;46:105-12.
- 19. Ungar M. Qualitative contributions to resilience research. *Qual Soc Work*. 2003;2:85-102.
- 20. Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. *Int J Qual Health C*. 2007;19:349-57.
- 21. The Study of Environment on Aboriginal Resilience and Child Health (SEARCH): study protocol. *BMC Pub Health*. 2010;10:287.
- 22. Mileviciute I, Trujillo J. The role of explanatory style and negative life events in depression: A cross-sectional study with youth from a North American plains reservation. *Am Indian Alaska Nat (Online)*. 2013 Sep 1;20(3):42.
- 23. Werner E. Vulnerable but invincible: high-risk children from birth to adulthood. *Acta Paediatr.* 1997;86:103-5.
- 24. Duckworth AL, Peterson C, Matthews MD, Kelly DR. Grit: perseverance and passion for long-term goals. *J Pers Soc Psychol*. 2007;92:1087.
- 25. Luthar SS. Vulnerability and resilience: A study of high-risk adolescents. *Child Dev.* 1991;62:600.
- 26. Usborne E, Taylor DM. The role of cultural identity clarity for self-concept clarity, self-esteem, and subjective well-being. *Pers Soc Psychol B*. 2010;36:883-97.
- 27. LaFromboise TD, Hoyt DR, Oliver L, Whitbeck LB. Family, community, and school influences on resilience among American Indian adolescents in the upper Midwest. *J Community Psychol.* 2006;34:193-209.
- 28. Goebert D, Nahulu L, Hishinuma E, Bell C, Yuen N, Carlton B, et al. Cumulative effect of family environment on psychiatric symptomatology among multiethnic adolescents. *J Adol Health*. 2000 Jul 31;27(1):34-42.
- 29. Dumont M, Provost MA. Resilience in adolescents: Protective role of social support, coping strategies, self-esteem, and social activities on experience of stress and depression. *J Youth Adol.* 1999;28:343-63.
- 30. Mellor D. Contemporary racism in Australia: The experiences of Aborigines. *Pers Soc Psychol B.* 2003 Apr 1;29(4):474-86.
- 31. Pedersen A, Griffiths B, Contos N, Bishop B, Walker I. Attitudes toward Aboriginal Australians in city and country settings. *Aust Psychol.* 2000;35:109-17.
- 32. Paradies Y, Harris R, Anderson I. *The impact of racism on Indigenous health in Australia and Aotearoa: Towards a research agenda.* Cooperative Research Centre for Aboriginal Health. 2008 Jan 1.

- 33. Jones CP. Levels of racism: a theoretic framework and a gardener's tale. *Am J Pub Health*. 2000;90:1212.
- 34. Ungar M. The social ecology of resilience: A handbook of theory and practice. 2012. P 463.
- 35. Cortis N, Katz I, Patulny R. *Engaging hard-to-reach families and children*. FaHCSIA occasional paper. Canberra: Australian Government. 2009(26).
- 36. Panaretto KS, Wenitong M, Button S, Ring IT. Aboriginal community controlled health services: leading the way in primary care. *Med J Aust* 2014;200:649-52.

Supplementary File 1: Interview guide

PREAMBLE

"Some children tend to do well despite problems they may face, that is, they appear to be 'resilient'. We're interested in any thoughts you may have about what helps these kids do well. We'd like you to think back on your experiences as a child, you may also like to think about your own children and/or children you know well."

Positive adaption/adversity

- 1. What are some important signs that Aboriginal kids in your community are doing okay? What, specifically would you look for?
 - Prompt: what attitudes or behaviours might you see/not see?
- 2. a. What do you see as some of the challenges facing Aboriginal children or young people in your community?
 - b. Do you think these are different to the challenges facing non-Aboriginal children or young people? In what ways are they different?

Personal resilience

- 3. a. Thinking about your own childhood, what sorts of things helped you cope with challenges you may have experienced?
 - b. How did this help you? Have these experiences influenced you as an adult? How?
 - c. What things were most helpful when you were a younger? When you were a teenager?

Resilience in the community

- 4. a. What do you think helps Aboriginal kids in your community do okay despite the challenges they face?
 - Prompt: what aspects of a child's community/family/personality might help them do well?
 - b. Which of these do you think is the most important?
 - c. Are there differences in the things that may help younger children compared to older children? What about for boys and girls?

Potential programs/services

5. a. For Aboriginal children who are facing lots of challenges, what sort of programs or services do you think could be developed to help them to do well? What might these programs look like, what would be some important features?

Prompt: how might this program incorporate your previous thoughts about what makes Aboriginal kids do well?

- b. Who would you like to see involved in running these types of programs?
- c. Have you seen something similar that has worked? What were the best/worst parts of this program?

Thank You!